STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

02-09-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appellate Case No. 2014 AP 2273 Trial Court Case No. 14 CV 96

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

JOHN N. NAVRESTAD,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Appealed from a Judgment of Conviction Entered In the Circuit Court for Monroe County The Honorable J. David Rice Presiding

Respectfully Submitted:

Lanning Law Offices, LLC 2100 Gateway Court, Suite 200 West Bend, WI 53095 Telephone: (262) 334-9900

By: **Chad A. Lanning** State Bar No. 1027573 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. NAVRESTAD'S MOTION TO VACATE HIS 1992 OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED (FIRST OFFENSE) CONVICTION, WHEN HE HAD A PRIOR CONVICTION IN 1989?

Trial Court Answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant believes oral argument is unnecessary in this case. Pursuant to Rule 809.22(2)(b), Stats., the briefs will fully develop and explain the issues. Therefore, oral argument would be of only marginal value and would not justify the expense of court time.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant believes that the publication of this case is also unnecessary. Pursuant to Rule 809.23(1)(b), Stats., this case involves the application of well-settled rules of law.

4

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

On April 10, 2014, Mr. John N. Navrestad, the defendant-appellant, filed a motion to void and vacate his 1992 Operating While Intoxicated (First Offense) conviction because he had a prior Operating While Intoxicated (OWI) conviction from California in 1989. (R1)

Mr. Navrestad filed a direct attack to his 1992 conviction, but because all files were destroyed, the clerk of court's office assigned Mr. Navrestad's motion a new case number, 14 CV 96.¹ (R24 at 2.)

Mr. Navrestad also provided an affidavit stating that his 1992 OWI conviction was treated as a first offense and his "driving record abstract" which in relevant part, listed OWI convictions in 1989 and 1992. (R2 at 1, 4.)

Importantly, because the original file was destroyed, much was unknown about the 1992 conviction. Subsequently, it was learned that the proper plaintiff should have been the County of Monroe, as Mr. Navrestad was charged under Monroe County Ordinance No. 5.01 adopting Wis. Stats Sec. 346.63(1)(a). (R24 at 4.)

On April 22, 2014, the government, by the Office of the District Attorney, filed a letter with the circuit court stating that they had "no objection to this Motion." (R5.) The circuit court responded by stating that it was "treating the combination of the motion and the letter as a stipulation between counsel to grant the motion. However, I do not approve that stipulation." (R4 at 1.)

The circuit court stated that its decision was based on *State v. Hammill*, 293 Wis. 2d 654 (Ct. App. 2006), which held that a "bright-line rule" bars collateral attacks on prior OWI conviction unless it is based on the alleged denial of the right to counsel. (R4 at 1.)

On April 28, 2014, the government responded by letter to the circuit court inviting it to reconsider its decision based on *Clark County v. Potts*, 2013 WI App. 55 (unpublished opinion)².

² *Potts* was cited for its persuasive value, and a copy was provided to the circuit court pursuant to 809.23(3). *Potts* is cited here to provide a

(R11 at 1.) Specifically, the letter stated that in *Potts* the appellate court concluded that "the 1996 judgment of conviction for first offense OWI entered against Potts was void because the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to try Potts for first offense OWI in violation of Clark County's OWI ordinance." (R11 at 1.) In essence, the government argued that it had the discretion, under the totality of the circumstances of Mr. Navrestad's case, to oppose the motion or agree that the court lacked jurisdiction in 1992, and it chose agree with the motion in this case. *Id*.

Ultimately, a motion hearing was held on May 6, 2014.

(R32) At the motion hearing, the government raised the issue that Mr. Navrestad's attorney may have a conflict of interest as he was the District Attorney in 1992.³ (R32 at 4-5.) The circuit

history of the case, and a copy is provided in the appendix.

³ Mr. Navrestad's original attorney later withdrew due to the conflict of interest concerns raised by the government. (R13); (R16)

court responded, in part, by raising concerns regarding whether the 1992 OWI conviction was actually treated as a first offense, its general concerns that the retention of documents needs to change in light of the fact that all OWI convictions after 1989 are to be counted in the graduated penalty system and that Mr. Navrestad is asking for a "break in 2014" after getting "a break in 1992." (R32 at 5-6, 7-8, 10.)

On May 28, 2014, the government filed its brief and for the first time opposed Mr. Navrestad's motion to vacate his 1992 conviction.⁴ (R12) The government had changed its argument to be that a circuit court has jurisdiction over all civil and criminal cases citing *Village of Trempealeau v. Mikrut*, 2004 WI 79, and that "whether an [OWI] offense is civil or criminal in nature is, by definition, inherently dependent on how the prosecution is commenced." (R12 at 6, 13.)

The government also argued that the circuit court could not reopen the 1992 OWI conviction, which was not requested by Mr. Navrestad and

In other words, the government argued that its charging decision defines whether a defendant has committed a crime. The government gave a further example that it could charge a defendant of OWI with 42 prior convictions for drunk driving, but show up at the sentencing hearing and "fail to provide competent proof" i.e., chose to not provide any proof of any priors, and the court would be "mandated by statutory language" to impose" a forfeiture. (R16 at 14.)

Thus, the government says that in this case, it "neither alleged nor proved any prior convictions to enhance the penalties" and the court in 1992 was mandated to impose forfeiture penalties. *Id.* Somewhat ironically, the government then states that for Mr. Navrestad to argue that second offense OWI cases "must be prosecuted criminally" would frustrate the legislative purpose behind the impaired operating laws. (R16 at 14-15.)

On June 27, 2014, Mr. Navrestad filed his brief again stating that the circuit court in 1992 lacked subject matter jurisdiction because courts do not have the discretion to "treat the second [OWI] offense as anything but a second offense." (R21 at 3.)(citing *State v. Banks*, 105 Wis. 2d 32 (1981) and *Walworth County v Rohner*, 108 Wis. 2d 713 (1982).)

Further, Mr. Navrestad distinguished *Mikrut* noting that Mr. Navrestad's 1992 conviction was never validly before the court. (R21 at 5.)

On August 11, 2014, the circuit court denied Mr. Navrestad's motion. (R24) The circuit court began by determining that Mr. Navrestad was indeed charged with OWI (first offense) in 1992 – having not accepted Mr. Navrestad's "self-serving statement" that he was. (R24 at 2-4.)

Specifically, to the circuit court conducted an independent investigation and obtained a copy of Mr.

Navrestad's original 1992 citation from the Driver Record

Section of the Division of Motor Vehicles. (R24 at 3.) Further, the circuit court found that Mr. Navrestad was charged with a violation of Monroe County Ordinance 5.01 adopting sec. 346.63(1), he was found guilty of that charge, and that his driver's license was revoked for six months. (R24 at 4.)

The circuit court, however, noticed a discrepancy between the citation which indicated that Mr. Navrestad's license had been revoked for six months, and his Driver Record Abstract which showed that he had actually lost his license for 1 year. *Id*.

Accordingly, the circuit court continued its independent investigation and was "informed by a representative of the Driver Record Section that because the defendant's abstract showed a prior conviction, the Department automatically would revoke the defendant for 12 months, even though the court had ordered a six month revocation." (R24 at 4.)

The circuit court then concluded by discussing *Mikrut*, and distinguishing cases conflicting with its holding that "a circuit court is never without subject matter jurisdiction." (R24 at 10.)(citing *Mikrut*, 273 Wis. 2d at 81-2.)

Thus, the circuit court held that Mr. Navrestad's objection did not go to the court's subject matter jurisdiction in 1992, but rather to the court's competence, which Mr. Navrestad had waived. (R24 at 14-15.)

The circuit court ended its analysis by pointing out that its decision encourages defendants to "diligently prepare" their cases and prevents litigants from "sandbagging" errors. *Id*.

Mr. Navrestad now appeals the circuit court's order denying his motion to vacate his 1992 conviction for OWI (first offense) under Monroe County Ordinance 5.01 because he had a prior OWI conviction from California in 1989. *See* (R24 at 16.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"[W]hen the facts are not in dispute, whether a judgment is void for lack of jurisdiction is a question of law subject to de novo review." *Kett v. Community Credit Plan, Inc.*, 222 Wis. 2d 117, 128, 586 N.W.2d 68 (Ct. App. 1998).

ARGUMENT

MR. NAVRESTAD COULD NOT BE CONVICTED OF OWI (FIRST OFFENSE) IN 1992 FOR A VIOLATION OF MONROE COUNTY ORDINANCE 5.01 BECAUSE HE HAD A PRIOR OWI CONVICTION IN 1989.

"The legislature intended a second offense for drunk driving to be within the exclusive province of the State to prosecute as a crime." *Walworth County v. Rohner*, 108 Wis. 2d 713, 721, 324 N.W.2d 682 (1982). The Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Rohner* further held that counties have "no jurisdiction over [an OWI second] offense and the prosecutor had no discretion to charge under the county ordinance which can have no application to a subsequent drunk driving offense." *Id.* at

721; see also State v. Banks, 105 Wis. 2d 32, 43-43, 313 N.W.2d 67 (1981)(agreeing with an opinion of the Attorney General of Wisconsin stating that a district attorney has no authority and a court has no discretion to accept an OWI second offense as a first offense).

"When a court or other judicial body acts in excess of its jurisdiction, its orders or judgments are void and may be challenged at any time." *Kohler Company v. DILHR*, 81 Wis. 2d 11, 25, 259 N.W.2d 695 (1997). "A void judgment cannot be validated by consent, ratification, [forfeiture], or estopple." *Id*.

In the present case, the circuit court below found that Mr. Navrestad was convicted of "a civil traffic ordinance violation, and not a criminal offense" in 1992. (R24 at 4.) Further, the circuit court found that "the 1992 conviction was the defendant's second such conviction. His first conviction was the California conviction on August 21, 1989, as shown by his Driver Record Abstract." (R24 at 4.)

The government argued below, and the circuit court agreed that *Village of Trempealeau v. Mikrut*, 273 Wis. 2d 76, 681 N.W.2d 190 (2004), controls this case. Specifically, the circuit court below stated, "a circuit court is never without subject matter jurisdiction. *Mikrut*, 273 Wis. 2d at 818-2." (R24 at 10.)

The circuit court's decision was based on the following passage from *Mikrut*:

Article VII, section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides that: '[e]xcept as otherwise provided by law, the circuit court shall have original jurisdiction in all matters civil and criminal within the State.' Accordingly we have stated that in Wisconsin, 'no circuit court is without subject matter jurisdiction to entertain actions of any nature whatsoever.'

Mikrut, 273 Wis. 2d at 86. (internal citation omitted).

The circuit court below knew that its decision was contrary to many appellate court decisions. For example, the circuit court cited:

1. Walworth County v. Rohner, 108 Wis.2d 713 (1982)

(holding "the legislature intended a second offense for drunk driving to be within the exclusive province of the state to prosecute as a crime. [The] County had no jurisdiction over the offense and the prosecutor had no discretion to charge under the county ordinance.")

The circuit court found that *Rohner* was "distinguished from the present case because [it] was decided prior to *Mikrut*." (R24 at 11.)

2. *City of Kenosha v. Jensen*, 184 Wis. 2d 91. 516 N.W.2d 4 (Ct. App. 1994)

(holding "As the State points out in its *amicus curae* brief, a municipal court does not have subject matter jurisdiction to try and convict a criminal operating while intoxicated. Any such municipal action is null and void.)

The circuit court found that *Jensen* was "distinguished from the present case because [it] was decided prior to *Mikrut*." (R24 at 11.)

3. *State v. Bush*, 2005 WI 103

(holding "Circuit courts have original jurisdiction over all matter civil and criminal, except as otherwise provided by law. If a complaint fails to state an offense known at law, no matter civil or criminal (case) is before the court, resulting in the court, resulting in the court being without jurisdiction in the first instance.")

The circuit court found that *Bush* only concerned "facial challenges to the constitutionality" of a statute. (R24 at 12-14.)

4. La Crosse County v. Pettis,
2009 WI App. 77
(unpublished – cited by circuit court below and for persuasive value only – copy of decision in appendix)

(holding "the charge of first offense OWI was not valid, and thus the case was not validly before the court in the first instance. *See Rohner*, 108 Wis. 2d at 171-22. The circuit court did not lose competency to exercise its jurisdiction; an invalid charge is nover validly before the courts *See State v. Bush.*")

Circuit Court found that *Pettis* misplaced its reliance on

Bush. (R24 at 12.)

5. *Clark County v. Potts*, 2013 WI App. 55 (unpublished – cited by circuit court below and for persuasive value only – copy of decision in appendix)

(holding a "a motion for relief from a void judgment may be brought at any time" and "the 1996 judgment against Potts for first offense OWI is void because the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to try Potts under the Clark County ordinance" because of a previous OWI conviction)

The circuit court found that Potts was unpersuasive as an unpublished decision because it relied solely on *Rohner* without considering the implications of *Mikrut*. (R24 at 11.)

In reality, it is the circuit court below that has misplaced its reliance on *Mikrut*. For example, just one year after *Mikrut*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court said "the jurisprudence concerning subject matter jurisdiction and a circuit court's competence to exercise its subject matter jurisdiction is murky at best." *Bush*, 2005 WI 103, ¶16.

Furthermore, *Rohner* is not mentioned or cited at all in *Mikrut*. Thus, *Mikrut* is distinguishable from *Rohner* because *Mikrut* limited its discussion to "subject matter jurisdiction" based upon noncompliance with statutory requirements

pertaining to the invocation of the circuit court's jurisdiction. (R24 at 8.)(citing *Mikrut*, 273 Wis. 2d at 83 n.1, 86-88.)

Furthermore, *Mikrut* cited and relied upon earlier decision which predated *Rohner*. For example, *Mikrut* relied on *Mueller v. Brunn*, 105 Wis. 2d 171 (1982) and *Rohner* was decided 10 months later. Thus, the idea that *Mikrut* invalidated *Rohner* is misplaced.

Lastly, a recent unpublished Court of Appeals decision further leads to the conclusion that *Mikrut* did not modify *Rohner*. Specifically, the Court of Appeals stated, "we do not read *Mikrut* as modifying *Rohner* in any way. The court's holding in *Rohner* that we apply here continues to be good law in Wisconsin." *City of Stevens Point v. Lowery*, Slip op. at ¶11 (Dist. IV, February 5, 2015)(this case is cited for persuasive value only, and a copy is in the appendix).

Importantly, the circuit court raised a couple of red herrings below. Specifically, the court stated that it is difficult

to find prior convictions because they may have occurred in Puerto Rico, and the passage of time may deprive the State of the opportunity to recharge defendants for an earlier improperly charged first offense. (R24 at 5.)

To the contrary, the circuit court in this case was able to find the necessary documents to confirm that this was a second OWI first offense in 1992. Furthermore, the circuit court discovered that in 1992, the government knew Mr. Navrestad had a prior OWI conviction in 1989, and increased the length of his revocation to 12 months. (R24 at 4.) Moreover, defendants have no obligation to disclose a prior offense, and the establishment of prior offenses is unquestionably a duty belonging to the State. *See State v. Wideman*, 206 WIs.2d 91, 94-95, 556 N>W.2d 737 (1996).

While not raised below, it must be noted that the government by charging an OWI second offense as a first offense, has deprived that person of their due process rights to

be judged at the beyond a reasonable doubt standard of proof. *See generally State v. Talley*, 2013 WI App. 55 ¶18. Further, it deprives that individual of their constitutional right to an attorney under the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution. This further makes clear that there is no discretion to treat a criminal OWI second offense as a civil OWI first offense.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFOR, Mr. Navrestad respectfully requests this Court to reverse the circuit court below and void his 1992 OWI first offense conviction because the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction due to a prior OWI conviction in 1989.