STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED 03-16-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2014AP2273 Trial Court Case No. 2014CV000096

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

JOHN N. NAVRESTAD,

Defendant-Appellant

On Appeal From Judgment of Conviction In the Monroe County Circuit Court, The Honorable J. David Rice, Branch III, Presiding

PLAINTIFF - RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE MONROE COUNTY By: Allison E. Cogbill Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1089103 COURTHOUSE ROOM 201 112 SOUTH COURT STREET SPARTA WI 54656 Phone: (608) 269-8780 Fax: (608) 269-8919

Attorney for the Plaintiff - Respondent

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

The case came to trial on January 22, 1981, and the defendant moved to dismiss the charge on the grounds that he was improperly charged with a first offense violation. The defendant asserted that the court lacked subject-matter jurisdiction because he should have been charged with a second offense under state law. The district attorney then moved the court to allow filing of a criminal complaint charging the defendant with a second offense. The court told the district attorney that it would assess costs against the state for failing to file the complaint before trial. The district attorney then withdrew the motion.

The trial court ruled that it had jurisdiction to proceed under the ordinance violation. The court . . . reasoned that the district attorney had the prosecutorial discretion to charge under either the ordinance violation or the state statute. <u>Rohner</u>, 198 Wis. 2d at 715 (internal citations omitted).

The question before the court in <u>Rohner</u> was, essentially,

whether an OWI that was factually a second offense could be charged as a first offense forfeiture, instead of a second offense crime, as an act of prosecutorial discretion. The court held that there was no such prosecutorial discretion, because "[i]f the legislature had intended that the imposition of criminal penalties be *discretionary* it would have used permissive rather than mandatory language," <u>id</u>. at 718 (emphasis added), and because of the clear legislative intent, a "policy of strict enforcement of the drunk driving laws." <u>Id</u>. at 721. The court declared, "the drunk driving statutes must be construed to further these legislative purposes." <u>Id</u>. at 721; *see also* <u>State v. Neitzel</u>, 95 Wis. 2d 191, 193-94, 289 N.W.2d 828 (1980); <u>State v. Banks</u>, 105 Wis. 2d 32, 49, 313 N.W.2d 67 (1981). After determining that Walworth County prosecutors did not have discretion to undercharge, the court instructed the county to proceed with a criminal charge, pursuant to the intent of the law. <u>Rohner</u>, 198 Wis. 2d at 722.

Stated most succinctly, <u>Rohner</u> holds that a prosecutor has no discretion to choose to violate legislative mandate, and that knowingly undercharged matters before a circuit court should be dismissed on jurisdictional grounds and re-charged correctly. <u>Id.</u> at 722. Our Supreme Court instructs us that this was the correct holding because "[o]ur interpretation of the drunk driving statutes which places exclusive jurisdictions over subsequent offenses of drunk driving in the state, furthers this state policy of strict enforcement of these laws." <u>Id.</u> at 721.

This is factually disparate from the present matter: in <u>Rohner</u>, the Court held that there is no prosecutorial discretion to violate legislative mandate, and the defendant should be re-charged toward that mandate; in this case, the defendant asks that a non-discretionary (i.e., accidental) undercharging result in a violation of that legislative mandate. Why should the circuit court read <u>Rohner</u> as a binding rule on a matter the Court did not contemplate, in order to arrive at a conclusion that directly contradicts its language, reasoning, and result?

B. Insofar as <u>Rohner</u> discusses the jurisdiction or competency of a circuit court, it does so vaguely or paradoxically.

<u>Rohner</u> dismissed the defendant's improperly charged OWI for want of subject matter jurisdiction, directing the prosecutor to re-charge the case correctly. Yet, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin has repeatedly affirmed the state constitution, which authorizes circuit courts with original subject matter jurisdiction over all civil and criminal matters. This apparent paradox can be resolved by looking to post-<u>Rohner</u> decisions that clarify the once-murky fields of jurisdiction and competence. The circuit court looked to these subsequent Supreme Court cases in order to resolve the paradox, parsing the only reading that does not undermine any of the binding legal authority.

In <u>Rohner</u>, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin "held that the legislature intended a second- offense for drunk driving to be within the exclusive province of the state to prosecute as a crime. Walworth County had no jurisdiction over the offense and the prosecutor had no discretion to charge under the county ordinance." <u>Rohner</u>, 108 Wis. 2d

at 721. How, precisely, Walworth County's lack of jurisdiction is conflated with the circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction is unclear. This is in part because <u>Rohner</u> was decided three decades ago, and in part because -- as our Supreme Court confessed 23 years later -- "the jurisprudence concerning subject matter jurisdiction and a circuit court's competence to exercise its subject matter jurisdiction is murky at best." <u>State v. Bush</u>, 2005 WI 103, ¶ 16.²

Circuit courts in Wisconsin are constitutional courts with general original subject matter jurisdiction over "all matters civil and criminal." Wis. Const. art. VII, § 8. "Accordingly, a circuit court is never without subject matter jurisdiction." <u>Village of Trempealeau v.</u> <u>Mikrut</u>, 2004 WI 79, ¶ 1. In light of this binding precedent, how is the circuit court to interpret <u>Rohner</u>, where the undercharged OWI was "dismissed for want of subject-matter jurisdiction?" <u>Rohner</u>, 108 Wis. 2d at 722. In Mikrut, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin clarifies:

A circuit court's ability to exercise its subject matter jurisdiction in individual cases, however, may be affected by noncompliance with statutory requirements pertaining to the invocation of that jurisdiction. The failure to comply with these statutory conditions does not negate subject matter jurisdiction but may under certain circumstances affect the circuit court's competency to proceed to judgment in the particular case before the court. A judgment rendered under these circumstances may be erroneous or invalid because of the circuit court's loss of competency but is not void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. <u>Mikrut</u> at ¶ 2.

² The Appellant-Defendant also cites to <u>City of Kenosha v. Jensen</u>, 184 Wis. 2d 91, 516 N.W.2d 4 (Ct. App. 1994) in his brief. That case discussed the jurisdiction of a municipal court, which is not constitutionally created and lacks the jurisdictional authority of a circuit court.

In the present case, the State asked the circuit court "to hold that Navrestad's challenge to his 1992 conviction is a challenge to the circuit court's competency to proceed, and not to the court's subject matter jurisdiction." (R. 24 at 10.) The circuit court did not make some arbitrary choice to do so; it was required to do so.

As explained above, <u>Rohner</u> was about discretion. "[T]he legislature may, if it desires, spell out the limits of the district attorney's discretion and can define the situations that will compel him to act in the performance of his legislatively prescribed duties." <u>State ex rel.</u> <u>Kurkierewicz v. Cannon</u>, 42 Wis.2d 368, 380, 166 N.W.2d 255 (1969). Without reading unnecessary breadth into <u>Rohner</u>, it is clear that the Supreme Court of Wisconsin held that discretion does not allow a prosecutor to proceed with an undercharged OWI in clear violation of legislative intent, and multiple binding precedents that require adherence to legislative intent in intoxicated driving cases. But in that case, the Supreme Court did not address non-discretionary (i.e., accidental) undercharging.

The Defendant-Appellant asked the circuit court, and asks this court now, to ignore the entirety of the <u>Rohner</u> decision (and all available understanding of context) based on the fact that the decision used the phrase "subject matter jurisdiction" during a time in which the court's definitions of jurisdiction and competency was -- by the court's

own admission -- vague, unclear, and "murky at best." Bush, 2005 WI

103 at ¶ 16. The circuit court declined to do so, in part because that

murkiness has been clarified by subsequent decisions like Mikrut. The

Supreme Court ultimately concluded, and the circuit court followed,

that:

Article VII, section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides that: "except as otherwise provided by law, the circuit court shall have original jurisdiction in all matters civil and criminal within this state." Accordingly, we have stated that in Wisconsin, "no circuit court is without subject matter jurisdiction to entertain actions of any nature whatsoever." The "jurisdiction and the power of the circuit court is conferred not by act of the legislature, but by the Constitution itself." Thus, the subject matter jurisdiction of the circuit courts cannot be curtailed by state statute.

We have recognized, however, that a circuit court's ability to exercise the subject matter jurisdiction vested in it by the constitution may be affected by noncompliance with statutory requirements pertaining to the invocation of that jurisdiction in individual cases. Because the circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction is plenary and constitutionally-based, however, noncompliance with such statutory mandates is not "jurisdictional" in that it does not negate the court's subject matter jurisdiction. Rather, a failure to comply with a statutory mandate pertaining to the exercise of subject matter jurisdiction may result in a loss of the circuit court's competency to adjudicate the particular case before the court. "A defect of competency is not jurisdictional."

Whether a particular failure to comply with a statutory mandate implicates the circuit court's competency depends upon an evaluation of the effect of noncompliance on the court's power to proceed in the particular case before the court. Many errors in statutory procedure have no effect on the circuit court's competency. Only when the failure to abide by a statutory mandate is "central to the statutory scheme" of which it is a part will the circuit court's competency to proceed be implicated. Mikrut, 2004 WI 79, ¶ 8-10 (internal citations omitted).

While the Defendant-Appellant's Brief cites non-binding case law that asserts <u>Mikrut</u> does not modify <u>Rohner</u>, that conclusion is fundamentally impossible. (App. Brief at 19.) <u>Rohner</u> declares that since "the prosecutor had no discretion to charge under the county ordinance the complaint is to be dismissed for want of subjectmatter jurisdiction." <u>Rohner</u>, 108 Wis.2d at 721-22. This is because such discretion would violate clear legislative intent in drunk driving statutes, which "must be construed to further these legislative purposes." <u>Id.</u> at 721. This is **exactly** what the Court clarified in <u>Mikrut</u>: "*only* when the failure to abide by a statutory mandate is 'central to the statutory scheme' of which it is a part will the circuit court's competency to proceed be implicated." <u>Mikrut</u> at ¶ 10 (emphasis added).

The Defendant-Appellant cites to <u>State v. Bush</u>, which the circuit court considered, and which clarifies the issue as follows:

The logic behind this conclusion is entirely consistent with Article VII, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Article VII, Section 8 states that except as otherwise provided by law, circuit courts have original jurisdiction in all matters civil and criminal....

This rule is also entirely consistent with our line of cases that recognize that a criminal complaint which fails to allege any offense known at law is jurisdictionally defective and void. Once again, the premise behind the rule is simple. Circuit courts have original jurisdiction over all matters civil and criminal, except as otherwise provided by law. If a complaint fails to state an offense known at law, no matter civil or criminal is before the court, resulting in the court being without jurisdiction in the first instance. Bush, 2005 WI, at ¶¶ 17-18 (internal quotations

omitted).

Reflecting on the Defendant-Appellant's reliance on <u>Bush</u>, the circuit court concluded that since "first offense OWI is a traffic offense known to law," circuit courts have subject matter jurisdiction to hear first offense OWI cases. (R. 24 at 13.) Considering the murky language in <u>Rohner</u> in light of subsequent binding authority like <u>Bush</u> and <u>Mikrut</u>, the circuit court held that:

In 1992, Navrestad was charged with first offense OWI as a civil traffic forfeiture. He now asserts that this court did not have subject matter jurisdiction because he had previously been convicted of first offense OWI in California. The circuit court has subject matter jurisdiction over first offense OWI ordinance violations charges. Navrestad does not claim otherwise. He simply argues that the facts of his 1992 case do not support the charge, and the case should have been dismissed. Such a challenge goes to the competency of the circuit court to convict him on the 1992 offense, not to the court's subject matter jurisdiction. (R. 24 at 14.)

Put simply, the circuit court was confronted with the following question: how could Rohner's OWI be dismissed for want of subjectmatter jurisdiction (and subsequently re-charged correctly) when our Supreme Court has clearly held that "a circuit court is never without subject matter jurisdiction?" <u>Mikrut</u>, 2004 WI 79, ¶ 1. The notion that the two cases are unrelated is unsubstantiated, and would require the circuit court to hold that the Supreme Court of Wisconsin's rulings on jurisdiction and competence are somehow not binding on questions of jurisdiction and competence.

C. The Defendant-Appellant's Motion asks the court to apply <u>Rohner</u> in a way that would violate controlling law, including <u>Rohner</u> itself.

The circuit court's holding not only respected jurisdictional precedent, it also respected decades of intoxicated driving precedent. Virtually every published case of binding authority demands that intoxicated driving law be interpreted by the clear legislative mandate to reduce drunk driving by punishing drunk drivers and removing them from the roads. The cases Defendant-Appellant relies upon most heavily were determined through this prism, and resulted in harsher penalties for drunk drivers. The narrow interpretation of <u>Rohner</u> the Defendant-Appellant asks this court to apply would directly contradict binding authority on drunk driving law, including <u>Rohner</u> itself.

In <u>Rohner</u>, our Supreme Court appealed to or relied upon legislative intent throughout the entire opinion, referencing it nearly a dozen times. <u>Rohner</u>, 108 Wis. 2d 713, *passim*. The court utilized legislative intent as the primary basis for supporting its ruling, <u>id.</u> at 717-720, and as the litmus test that validates its ruling. <u>Id.</u> at 721. The importance of legislative intent in intoxicated driving case law cannot be understated. In <u>State v. Neitzel</u>, 95 Wis. 2d 191, 289 N.W.2d 828 (1980), our Supreme Court declared, "Because the clear policy of the statute is to facilitate the identification of drunken drivers and their removal from the highways, the statute must be construed to further the legislative purpose." Id., 95 Wis. 2d at 193. This quote has been cited in countless rulings of binding precedential value. See, e.g., State v. Banks, 105 Wis. 2d 32, 49, 313 N.W.2d 67 (Wis. 1981) (relying on legislative intent in upholding OWI repeater statutes); State v. Reitter, 227 Wis.2d 213, 595 N.W.2d 646 (Wis. 1999) ("the law was not created to enhance the rights of alleged drunk drivers." Id. at ¶ 13.); State v. List, 2004 WI App 230 (relying on legislative intent in upholding out-of-state convictions for OWI repeater charges); State v. Puchacz, 2010 WI App 30, (utilizing legislative intent to uphold out-ofstate convictions where there was no truly analogous Wisconsin law); State v. Hirsch, 2014 WI App 39 (relying on legislative intent to allow counting two previous out-of-state OWI convictions toward the defendant's repeater count, even though previous Wisconsin circuit courts had not counted said convictions).

It is against this sea of binding authority requiring adherence to legislative intent that the circuit court considered Mr. Navrestad's motion. The court ruled:

The legislative objective of drunken driving laws is to identify impaired drivers and remove them from our highways. Avoidance of the consequences of a prior OWI conviction, especially in cases like the present one where the conviction was based on a guilty or no contest plea, is clearly contrary to the legislative purpose. It is also contrary to the statutory scheme of progressive punishment for multiple offenders who fail to learn to respect the law after suffering the initial penalties and embarrassment of conviction. The outcome sought by the defendant here works the absurd legislative result of imposing more lenient penalties for defendant's present and future OWI convictions based upon the fact that he was treated too leniently at the time of his prior convictions. (R. 24 at 6.)

This ruling was, above all else, in direct compliance with the mandates of courts of appeal and the Supreme Court of Wisconsin, including <u>Rohner</u> itself, which states that "drunk driving statutes *must* be construed to further these legislative purposes." <u>Rohner</u>, 108 Wis. 2d at 721 (emphasis added). In considering its ruling, the circuit court had no choice but to weigh the legislative purposes of intoxicated driving statutes.

The Defendant-Appellant proffers few cases of legitimate authority against this binding precedent. While <u>Rohner</u> holds that a prosecutor has no discretion to choose to violate legislative mandate, and that knowingly undercharged matters before a circuit court should be dismissed on jurisdictional grounds and re-charged correctly, <u>id.</u> at 722, <u>Rohner</u> does not require a conviction to be vacated when it would be contrary to legislative mandate. In fact, the cases the Defendant-Appellant cites most frequently, <u>Rohner</u> and <u>City of Kenosha v. Jensen</u>, 184 Wis.2d 91, 516 N.W.2d 4 (Ct. App. 1994), both resulted in harsher penalties for the Defendant-Appellant. The only precedent Mr. Navrestad cites supports the legislative intent of stronger sanctions for convicted drunk drivers; his argument hinges entirely upon using law that supports legislative intent in order to circumvent legislative intent.

Without reading <u>Rohner</u> so broadly that it contradicts itself, there is *no binding precedent whatsoever* that required the circuit court to void the Defendant-Appellant's 22-year-old conviction. There is only binding precedent that requires construing any statutory vagueness to further "the statutory scheme of progressive punishment for multiple offenders who fail to learn to respect the law after suffering the initial penalties and embarrassment of conviction." (R. 24 at 6, citing <u>Banks</u>, 105 Wis. 2d. at 49.)

CONCLUSION

In short, the Hon. J. David Rice interpreted Wisconsin's intoxicated driving law as follows:

1. <u>Rohner</u> utilizes subject matter jurisdiction to further clarify legislative intent, and mandates that "the drunk driving statutes must be construed to further these legislative purposes." <u>Rohner</u>, 198 Wis. 2d at 721.

2. Voiding and vacating an undercharged drunk driving conviction that is so many decades old that it could never be retried would be contrary to legislative intent, which would violate <u>Rohner</u> and other controlling law.

3. This paradox can be resolved by <u>Mikrut</u>, which reiterated that "no circuit court is without subject matter jurisdiction to entertain actions of any nature whatsoever," <u>Mikrut</u>, 273 Wis. 2d

at 83 fn. 1, and 86-88, and clarified the murky distinction between competency and subject matter jurisdiction. <u>Id.</u> at 86; *see also* <u>Bush</u>, 2005 WI 103. It is not the circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction that is void, but rather its competency to proceed to a judgment that violates legislative intent.

4. Where the court's judgment violates <u>Rohner</u>'s mandate to further legislative intent, the court's competency to proceed to judgment is so impaired that the matter is void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, because there is another, statutorily proscribed judgment available. However, where there is no better judgment available, voiding and vacating the conviction would directly offend legislative intent, which is prohibited by <u>Rohner</u>.

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